

VFP Schweizerischer Verein für Pflegewissenschaft Association suisse pour les sciences infirmières APSI Association for Nursing Science

# SWISS RESEARCH AGENDA FOR NURSING

# **SRAN** 2019-2029

full version

#### Impressum

©Swiss Association for Nursing Science VFP/APSI, 2019

Haus der Akademien, Laupenstrasse 7 / Postfach, CH-3001 Bern

www.vfp-apsi.ch, info@vfp-apsi.ch

SRAN: https://www.vfp-apsi.ch/portrait-pflegewissenschaft/forschung/sran/

Project Directors: Prof. Dr. Dunja Nicca and Nicole Zigan

Editorial Services: Chris Shultis, Shultis English Language Services; Steve McCrosky, Zürcher Hochschule für Angewandte Wissenschaften, Winterthur

**Suggested citation**: Swiss Association for Nursing Science VFP/APSI. (2019). Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing 2019 – 2029 (SRAN) short version. Bern: VFP/APSI.

# Table of Contents

Introduction	
Preface	5
Summary of the Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing 2019-2029	7
PART 1: SRAN REASEARCH PRIORITIES	
Priority A: New models of care	
A1: Collaboration within new models of care	
A2: Nursing contributions including advanced practice nursing and outcomes	
A3: Self-management support by and for patients and informal caregivers	
A4: Development of methodology for new models of care	
Priority B: Nursing care interventions	
B1: Patient reported outcomes and experience	
B2: Person-centered care	
B3: Reduction of suffering and burden	
B4: Promotion of health and prevention of disease	
Priority C: Work and care environment	
C1: Nursing leadership and management styles	
C2: Skill/grade mix and nursing resource planning	
C3 System-level professional collaboration and teamwork	
C4: Reconciliation of employment and family/informal care	25
Priority D: Quality of care and patient safety	
D1: Nursing quality- measures and improvement	
D2: Communication and safety culture	
D3: Safe systems – measurement, methodology and monitoring	
D4: Safe clinical practices, procedures and technologies	
PART 2: TRANSVERSAL THEMES	
E) Organization of research	
F) Research methodologies, methods and technologies	
G) Research in health care policy and policies of higher nursing education	
H) Public health perspectives, diverse and vulnerable populations in research	
References	
Collaborators and acknowledgement:	40

# Introduction

Research agendas are an indispensable element of research infrastructure within or across disciplines. The content of such an agenda provides focus when facing the wide range of questions to be answered by a discipline. Agendas provide guidance to young researchers at the outset of their career to help identify their contribution to the discipline. Generally, agendas provide a good overview of a discipline's core questions and purpose.

The first Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing (SRAN) was developed in 2007 under the direction of the Swiss Association for Nursing Science (VFP/APSI). For more than a decade, the SRAN has served as a roadmap for nurse researchers' inquiry in the field of clinical nursing research. A decade later, it is time for an update that will identify and bridge knowledge gaps and provide guidance for the direction and development for the next decade of nursing research programs and projects. Like the SRAN 2007-2017, the updated SRAN 2019-2029 supports alignment of nurse researchers and research teams across all areas of nursing research. It is also designed to guide decision makers and funding organizations.

Overall, the updated agenda presents four general priorities for clinical nursing research, each elaborated by specific research themes. These priorities are not focusing on specific populations<sup>1</sup> or health conditions. The aim was to define research priorities broad enough for various researchers and/or decision makers to apply them to their populations and settings. Along with the recommended research priorities, the revised SRAN includes transversal themes relevant to nursing research, e.g. methodological approaches or diversity.

The SRAN 2019-2029 is presented in a full version available in English and in a short version available in English, German, French, and Italian.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this document, we use the term "patient" to describe the person at the center of care activities in different settings (e.g., long-term care institutions, home- and community care, hospitals). The term "informal caregiver" describes any person, including a family member, partner, friend or neighbor, who has a personal relationship and provides care and support to the patient.

# Preface

The update of the Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing (SRAN) is another milestone within the 20 year old history of nursing science in Switzerland. It provides guidance for the eight institutes of nursing science that exist today in all language areas, in conducting high quality research and education towards bachelor, master and doctoral programs. These academic institutions have achieved remarkable reputation within their geographic regions and beyond.

During the past two decades, members of the Swiss Association of Nursing Science have developed a strong network for exchange and expertise, which strengthens the discipline nationwide and internationally.

Looking ahead to the next decade of nursing research in Switzerland, it is time to roll out the SRAN roadmap 2019-2029. I encourage an academic discourse that merits its value, that consequently involves patients and family caregivers as co-researchers, and that embraces other disciplines and policy makers who have recognized that nursing science contributes substantially to the health of the population, and to the individuals we care for.

Prof. Dr. Iren Bischofberger President VFP/APSI

Research agendas are internationally regarded as important elements of a good research infrastructure. The updated Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing (SRAN) provides a framework for continuing to align nursing research with the challenges of Swiss healthcare in the future.

It has had an impressive evolution. In 2007, VFP/APSI, under the leadership of Prof. Dr. Lorenz Imhof, adopted the first "Agenda for Clinical Nursing Research in Switzerland". It was drawn up with the involvement of the first specialists to obtain a master's degree in nursing either abroad or in the degree program offered by the Aarau Centre for Further Education for Health Professions with the University of Maastricht.

The VFP/APSI SRAN symposium which was held in 2014 under the presidency of Prof. Dr. Maria Müller Staub showed that SRAN attracts national and international attention. Responsible persons at all Swiss nursing research institutes, universities and partner organizations, as well as international experts, emphasized the importance of its further development. In 2017, the second SRAN Conference took place under the ad interim presidency of Dr. Stefan Kunz, at which the update of the existing agenda was widely discussed and the foundation stone for the present version was laid. SRAN 2019-2029 is now available and shows that scientifically based nursing focuses on the benefits for patients, whether in connection with patient safety, innovative care models or nursing-specific interventions.

I hope that with this brochure, VFP/APSI will be able to initiate fruitful discussions on the further development of nursing research.

Dr. Stefan Spycher

Head of Health Policy Directorate, FOPH

# Summary of the Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing 2019-2029

The revised SRAN is divided in two parts. The first part defines four areas of research priorities. In all four priority areas, the main topic is described and elaborated in several subthemes (see table 1). The second part identifies transversal themes which are relevant for all nurse researchers in their scientific work (see table 2).

#### Table 1) Overview of research priorities

defined for the Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing 2019-2029

#### A) New models of care

New care models outline best care delivery practices via the application of a set of evidencebased practice principles across identified clinical pathways and patient care continuums. They need to be evaluated regarding their impact on improving related health-, patient-, and economic outcomes

#### A1. Collaboration within new models of care

Interprofessional collaboration shows positive impact on patient-, informal caregiverand health outcomes, and needs to be further developed and evaluated within new care models.

- Conceptual differentiation between teamwork, collaborative practices, and interprofessional collaboration, as well as nurse researchers' contributions to evaluating the structures, processes, and outcomes of various collaboration models, particularly as these pertain to new care delivery approaches
- Teamwork or collaborative practices and their impact on patient care, including family support and patient outcomes
- Power relationships among health professionals and their impact on patient outcomes and experiences

#### A2. Nursing contributions

#### including advanced practice nursing and outcomes

New models of care integrating APN roles have shown to improve patient health outcomes; new nurse roles need to be evaluated with respect to these outcomes.

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- New models of care, including roles, tasks, and responsibilities (scopes of practice) of nurses with various levels of education and other members of health care teams
- Effectiveness of new nursing roles (particularly those of APN) with respect to patient-, health- and socioeconomic outcomes
- Interprofessional, policy, and user responses to APN, particularly on patient- and informal caregiver experiences

# A3. Self-management support by and for patients and informal caregivers

Self-management support by nurses and others (e.g. patients, other professionals) has shown positive impacts on patient and informal caregiver health outcomes and needs to be evaluated within new care models.

- The needs, contributions, and health outcomes of chronically ill patients and their caregivers during the constantly changing course of treatment and care.
- Self-management support for patients and informal caregivers within various care models, including the allocation of community resources and digital health, followed by evaluation of their effectiveness and implementation outcomes
- Patient centeredness and patients' experiences of tailored care delivery approaches; moving toward developing interventions that allow for diversity of populations and cultural perspectives

#### A4. Development of methodology for new models of care

New models of care are approached as complex health interventions. Further refinements are needed regarding theoretical frameworks and methodologies for evaluation.

- Theoretical frameworks and methodologies that allow for the evaluation of complex interventions
- Care delivery models that include autonomous nursing roles as sustainable implementation
- Specific theoretical frameworks that provide guidance for the development, implementation and evaluation of nursing roles in models of care.

#### B) Nursing care interventions

Nursing care interventions target individuals of all ages, families, and populations in all health conditions, and promote proactive changes in the society. In order for nurses to make informed clinical decisions, research on the development and implementation of patientcentered care, treatments, and technologies as well as interventions to improve health and wellbeing is needed.

#### B1. Patient reported outcomes and experience

Patients points of view are essential for the evaluation of nursing care interventions. Therefore, assessment of patient-related outcomes measures (PROMs) and patientreported experience measures (PREMs) are important. Further implementation of these measures and the evaluation of aligned interventions are needed.

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Patient experiences with respect to changing illness, treatment, and care interventions
- Development of PROMs and PREMs for specific patient populations and family caregivers, with targeted and tailored interventions aligned with assessment results
- PROMs and PREMs in registries and clinical routine reports allowing for big data generation and analysis

#### B2. Person-centered care

Person-centered care improves the quality of health care, targets the needs of families and patients and fosters self-care. Research efforts are needed to improve patient-centered care in specific and changing fields (e.g., marginalized populations, long-term care, and in populations being treated with personalized medicine).

- Strategies to communicate well with vulnerable populations that do not have a common language with health care providers
- Counselling programs to improve information, decision making, and education in situations of equipoise or in ethically complex situations (e.g., personalized medicine approaches and their consequences)
- Strategies and interventions to improve interaction between patients and healthcare professionals in situations with limited verbal communication (e.g., trauma, dementia, delirium, mental illness, cognitive impairment)

#### B3. Reduction of suffering and burden

Illness but also care interventions and diagnostic and treatment procedures, can cause considerable suffering and burden for patients and families. Relief interventions across all stages of ill-health need continuous development.

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Self-management or coping support provided or led by nurses for patients and informal caregivers in long-term conditions to reduce disease and treatment burden
- Reducing care- related burden (e.g. in mental health and psychogeriatric care) and development of effective supportive strategies
- Palliative care approaches and coverage across regions and health care settings
- Educating and enabling nurses, nursing teams, and other health care professionals to deal with complex care situations (e.g. dementia care, multi-morbidity)

#### B4. Promotion of health and prevention of disease

The evolution of chronic diseases and their negative consequences can be limited by a reduction of modifiable risk factors. Nursing interventions improving health on the individual and population level need to be developed or scaled up.

- Access to evidence-based interventions to improve health and well-being on the population level
- Effective health promotion programs for marginalized and hard to reach populations
- Targeted nursing interventions improving health for communities and populations, namely improving health literacy and health behavior in all age groups and marginalized groups

#### C) Work and care environment

Healthy and supportive care environments are important for both health care professionals and informal caregivers, and have an impact on patient and health outcomes. Factors contributing to quality care environments need to be better understood and management interventions need to be evaluated.

#### C1. Nursing leadership and management styles

Nursing leadership is associated with patient, nurse, and informal caregiver outcomes at each organizational level. Studies are required, in which intervention to improve the skills and competency of the nurse leaders are developed and tested, with reference to defined patients-, nurses- and informal caregivers- outcomes.

Examples of specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Sustainable nursing leadership skills: at all management levels including frontline, middle and top management embracing clinical, academic and administrative tasks and roles including new technologies for planning, managing, and allocating staff resources.
- Middle-level management competences in terms of leadership-oriented career pathways, knowledge and skills
- Leadership styles (transformational leadership, transactional leadership, management by exception) and healthcare management approaches (lean management, quality improvement tools) and their impact on various outcomes
- Transfer and adoption of essential elements of recognized international healthcare certification /accreditation programs (magnet/beacon designations) to the Swiss context

#### C2. Skill/grade mix and nursing resource planning

Nurse staffing and skill/grade mix levels contribute to safe patient care and sustainable work and care environments. Empirical research and conceptual developments are needed to provide leadership with key figures and algorithms.

- Skill and grade mix standards and criteria for health care activities performed by nursing teams with various experiences and educational backgrounds
- Methods to determine nurse staffing levels in relation to quality of care (e.g. patient experiences), patient safety (e.g. infection rates), patient characteristics and care demands (e.g. changes in acuity), and financial sustainability.

• Measures for optimal numbers of different grades in a team per unit of required patient care, e.g. undergraduate, and diploma nursing staff as well as vocational training and assistant team members

#### C3. System-level professional collaboration and teamwork

Professional and interprofessional collaboration and teamwork are crucial to quality of care and health outcomes. System-level data and intervention is needed.

Examples of specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Approaches on strategies and interventions to improve professional and interprofessional collaboration and team work
- Contextual complexity of interprofessional collaboration and teamwork and their underlying mechanisms
- Transferability of intervention results across institutions as well as cultural and linguistic regions
- Research tools to assess and evaluate interprofessional teamwork, collaboration, and learning

#### C4. Reconciliation of employment and family/informal care

Informal caregiving is an essential part of health care systems, with important effects regarding patient safety/outcomes. Organizational structures allowing the reconciliation of employment and informal caregiving need to be evaluated.

- Sustainable work arrangements for employed family caregivers through proactive leadership and friendly workplace strategies
- Awareness in the health care system for double-duty caregiving and implication for communication and collaboration with distance caregivers
- Care coordination and patient safety to establish smooth care pathways, which enable working caregivers to fulfil their workforce responsibilities without being interrupted by unnecessary care duties
- Mindset of "burdened employed family caregivers" towards a more contemporary understanding of competent and resilient working caregivers

#### D) Quality of care and patient safety

Quality of care, including patient safety, is a key dimension to describe, assess, and improve healthcare performance from the individual clinician level to the system level. For nursing care quality, "nursing sensitive outcomes" (NSOs), i.e. outcomes depending on nursing care processes and structures, needs ongoing development. For patient safety, it is vital to monitor clinical practices and evaluate intervention bundles which take human and system factors into account.

#### D1. Nursing quality- measures and improvement

Health care settings require sound quality measures of processes, structures and outcomes. Research is needed for the use of quality measures for profiling as well as for implementation of quality improvement.

Examples of specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Quality measures on processes, structures, and outcomes in all settings
- Barriers and facilitators of quality measures at various health care organization levels
- Interventions to facilitate organizational learning based on quality measures of structures, processes, and outcomes
- Quality measures on standardized and un-standardized routine data in electronic health records in all settings

#### D2. Communication and safety culture

Safety climate and culture relies on core factors including staff members' individual and collective performance, attitudes, and communication. These factors need to be better understood in order to design system interventions.

- Evaluation of safe care-oriented teamwork across hierarchical boundaries and improvement of team safety cultures, including positive deviants among care professionals, to model safe patient care practices
- Reliable interventions to overcome poor safety cultures and blame-oriented processes and support for second victims in health care facilities
- Human factors embedded in design and care operations
- Speak-up and interprofessional communication in situations critical to patient safety and medical error disclosure to patients and families

#### D3. Safe systems - measurement, methodology and monitoring

Improving patient safety requires complex system-level interventions for which human, technical, and system factors need to be considered. Evaluating the impacts of care activities on health care quality requires consistent monitoring.

Examples of specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Theories, models, and context behind interventions to implement patient safety practices
- Robust indicators for patient safety and quality of care sensitive to nursing care based on voluntary reporting and adverse event detection methods in the electronic health record (e.g., nosocomial infections, medication errors) and interoperability of electronic health records among professional groups (e.g., regarding medication processes)
- Identifying and ameliorating latent organizational failures (e.g., availability of proper functioning equipment, organization of work processes)
- Effects of patient safety practices on outcomes, including possible unexpected effects and costs

#### D4. Safe clinical practices, procedures and technologies

Safe care depends on reliable and evidence-based operations and best practices. Their implementation needs to be studied in real-life contexts, including nursing care.

- Health information technology/information systems and patient/informal caregiver involvement effects on patient safety
- Patient safety-oriented design principles such as noise reduction, standardization, minimizing fatigue, immediate accessibility of information, etc.
- Patient safety in neglected areas such as ambulatory care, long-term care, and psychiatric settings including costs and benefits of safe care activities
- Medication safety within electronic health record interfaces

defined for the Swiss Research Agenda for Nursing 2019-2029

#### E) Organization of research

Individual studies incorporated in systematic nursing research programs promote and support professional, interprofessional, and interdisciplinary collaborations. Throughout the research cycle, ethical principles have to be applied and patient involvement needs to be systematically planned and facilitated.

#### F) Research methodologies, methods and technologies

Methodologies are needed, which accelerate the implementation of complex interventions and evidence into daily nursing practice. Meaningful use of large routine data sets needs to be facilitated, taking data security into account. Intelligent use of digital and technological advancements in healthcare needs to be enhanced, guided by both theory and practices of professionals.

#### G) Research in health care policy and policies of higher nursing education

Nursing research both guides and follows health care policy and decision making. It consults and informs nursing-related regulation and helps implement national strategies targeting pressing health care issues. Policy research is needed that evaluates these endeavors.

# H) Public health perspectives, diverse and vulnerable populations in research

Nursing research serves both individual and public health. In particular, public health perspectives across populations and fields need to be further integrated in research. Likewise, nurse researchers across all fields of research have to account for health care disparities influenced by diversity and vulnerability.

# PART 1: SRAN REASEARCH PRIORITIES

Congruent with the first SRAN version, research priorities are described as broad themes relevant to nursing practice and nursing science in Switzerland, also considering international developments. The priorities can be adapted to all populations (e.g., children, working age, older adults), all care settings (e.g., acute, long-term, home care, hospice), and diverse health conditions (e.g., acute, chronic, healthy).

Each research priority is introduced with a short statement, followed by sub-themes highlighting specific areas for nursing research within that priority.

#### Priority A: New models of care

Health care systems are continuously challenged to revise evidence-based care delivery in order to maintain or improve patient-, health- and economic outcomes. Changes in existing models of care are unavoidable due to multiple reasons: demographic aging, consequences of modern life styles, increasing chronic illnesses, growing cultural diversity, novel diagnostics and treatments, shifted patient and families care needs, and constraints in resources, particularly regarding qualified health professionals (1,2). Innovative new care models outline best care delivery practices via the application of a set of evidence-based practice principles across identified clinical pathways and patient care continuums. as well as patient empowerment endeavors (3). Reorganizing care models means adapting or replacing of division of labor and collaboration patterns (4) and empowering patients (3). Hence, health professional roles are in flux in clinical practice and in professional education (5–8). The models need to be evaluated regarding their impact on improving related health-, patient- and economic outcomes but also regarding implementation in practice.

#### A1. Collaboration within new models of care

Collaborative and interprofessional practice applies to diverse health care settings and includes thoughtful communicating on systematically agreed goals for patient wellbeing across settings (9). While interprofessional collaboration shows positive impact on patient-, informal caregiver- and health outcomes, it has been adopted to various degree in health care settings. In particular coordination of chronic care roles demand further investigation (10). This is particularly relevant within new models of care. These emphasize the relationship between evidence based care and high-quality interprofessional collaboration that results in improved patient outcomes, namely fewer adverse events, complications, and mortality and higher satisfaction (11). However, there is a lack of common understanding of the concept of interprofessional collaboration in relation to patient care, and whether or not this differs significantly from simple teamwork (10,12,13).

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Conceptual differentiation between teamwork, collaborative practices, and interprofessional collaboration, as well as nurse researchers' contributions to evaluating the structures, processes, and outcomes of various collaboration models, particularly as these pertain to new care delivery approaches
- Teamwork or collaborative practices and their impact on patient care, including family support and patient outcomes
- Power relationships among health professionals and their impact on patient outcomes and experiences

#### A2: Nursing contributions including advanced practice nursing and outcomes

New models of care transform nursing roles in all settings and educational qualification. This needs systematic evaluation. Internationally models integrating Advanced Practice Nursing (APN) roles have shown to improve patient- and health- outcomes. Considering the relatively short history of APN in Switzerland, their scope of practice, competencies and impacts on patient- and health- outcomes requires specific attention (14). Evaluation should focus on the patient and informal caregiver needs that can be met by the clinical skills of APN and on related patient- and health- outcomes. Evaluation results should allow to make informed decisions on implementation and sustainability of APN roles within various organizational or health care contexts. Research results are, thus, essential for decision makers in policy and practice.

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- New models of care, including roles, tasks, and responsibilities (scopes of practice) of nurses with various levels of education and other members of health care teams
- Effectiveness of new nursing roles (particularly those of APN) with respect to patient-, health- and socioeconomic outcomes
- Interprofessional, policy, and user responses to APN, particularly on patient- and informal caregiver experiences
- Added value and patient-centeredness of new models of care involving APN
- New models of nurse-led care focusing on healthy populations for disease prevention and health promotion provided by nurses (particularly APN)

#### A3: Self-management support by and for patients and informal caregivers

Self-management is broadly defined as the day-to-day management of chronic conditions by individuals over the course of their illness (15,16). Nurse-led self-management support, also provided by other health professionals and peers, has shown positive impacts on health outcomes and quality of life in people living with chronic diseases and their informal caregivers. Therefore, particularly in the area of chronic illness management, any new models of care need to integrate self-management support strategies that include patients and their informal caregivers as partners in the health care team during the illness trajectory.

Self-management practice and policy need to be firmly rooted in empirical evidence. The researchers' findings should facilitate the evaluation of complex, tailored self-management support while accounting for treatment approaches and social conditions that are embedded in patients' and family caregivers' lived experiences (17).

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- The needs, contributions, and health outcomes of chronically ill patients and their caregivers during the constantly changing course of treatment and care.
- Self-management support for patients and informal caregivers within various care models, including the allocation of community resources and digital health, followed by evaluation of their effectiveness and implementation outcomes
- Patient centeredness and patients' experiences of tailored care delivery approaches; moving toward developing interventions that allow for diversity of populations and cultural perspectives

#### A4: Development of methodology for new models of care

New care models are complex health interventions. They are highly context-dependent and involve numerous components. The potential inter-reactivity makes them difficult to measure in terms of influences on planned and unplanned outcomes. Accordingly, developing, implementing, evaluating and sustaining complex models of care require innovative methodologies and sound theoretical frameworks.

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Theoretical frameworks and methodologies that allow evaluation of complex interventions
- Care delivery models that include autonomous nursing roles as sustainable implementation
- Specific theoretical frameworks that provide guidance for the development, implementation and evaluation of nursing roles in models of care.

#### Priority B: Nursing care interventions

Nursing care interventions target individuals of all ages, families, and populations in all health conditions, and promote proactive changes in the larger society (18). This also involves participation in the constant evolution of the organization and sustainable financing of care as well as the patient-centered development of treatments and technologies for individuals and populations. Ironically, the tremendous benefits of medical and technological innovations extend patients' lives also with difficult health conditions. This is challenging for health care professionals including nurses in the provision of effective care and treatment. In particular, caring for a growing patient and family caregiver population – many are older adults or living with multiple ill-health conditions – requires a large set of person-centered interventions to reduce burden of illness and treatment and to promote health and wellbeing in individuals and groups. In order for nurses to make informed decisions, research on the development

and implementation of patient- centered care, treatments, and technologies as well as interventions to improve health and wellbeing is needed.

#### B1: Patient reported outcomes and experience

Highlighting the importance of patients' perspectives and experiences, clinical and health service researchers are increasingly planning their activities to be patient-centered. In fact, patients' points of view are now recognized as essential when evaluating the six core dimensions of health service quality – safety, effectiveness, patient centeredness, timeliness, efficiency and equitability (19). This has led to the development of numerous PROs (patient related outcomes) and PREs (patient related experiences), i.e., reports made directly by patients about their health conditions and experiences with no interpretation by clinicians or anyone else (20). While traditional survival, disease and physiological outcomes demonstrate the physiological effects of care, PROs provide a more holistic interpretation and assessment (21). For research purposes, two interrelated measurement options were developed: patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) and patient-reported experience measures (PREMs).

PROMs allow identification of benefits or deficiencies related to the disease, treatment and care that are detectable only by the patient. While permitting clinicians and researchers to quantify the severity, frequency or duration of specific symptoms and their impacts on patients' functionality, PROMS can also illuminate more complex concepts such as health related quality of life (22). Studies show that PROMs are more concordant with the patient's overall health status and result in earlier communication of symptom occurrence and severity than clinicians' reports, which tend to underestimate these experiences (23,24). In addition, the integration of electronic reports made by the patients themselves in routine care settings has been associated with increased survival (25).

PREMs compile patient ratings of specific experiences and their satisfaction with the associated health services (26,27). They encompass the full range of patient interaction with the healthcare system, including hospital care, general practice care and home-based care, as well as transitions between health services (e.g., from hospital to home-based care) (28). One key aspect of developing PREMs and understanding patients' experiences is learning to elicit their narratives on illness, treatment and care experiences in diverse social and care settings.

- Patient experiences with respect to changing illness, treatment, and care interventions
- Development of PROMs and PREMs for specific patient populations and family caregivers, with targeted and tailored interventions aligned with assessment results
- PROMs and PREMs in registries and clinical routine reports allowing for big data generation and analysis
- Large-scale observational PROM / PREM studies for defined patient populations
- Targeted and tailored interventions aligned with PRO assessment results and their effectiveness

#### B2: Person-centered care

Diagnostic procedures, care and treatment inherently include the interaction and communication between health care professionals, patients and often their informal caregivers as well. Person-centered care in general is defined as "putting people and their families at the center of decisions and seeing them as experts, working alongside professionals to get the best outcome" (29). It has shown to improve the quality of health care, targets the needs of patients and families and fosters self-care (29,30). Thus, person-centered care is at the central focus of nursing care. Whereas these approaches are implemented in the Swiss health care system to some extent, overall efforts are needed to improve person-centered care in specific and changing fields (e.g., marginalized populations, long-term care, and in populations being treated with personalized medicine).

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Strategies to communicate well with vulnerable populations, that do not have a common language with health care providers
- Counselling programs to improve information, decision making and education in situations of equipoise or in ethically complex situations (e.g. personalized medicine approaches and their consequences)
- Strategies and interventions to improve interaction between patients and professionals in situations with limited verbal communication (e.g. trauma, dementia, delirium, mental illness, cognitive impairment)

#### B3: Reduction of suffering and burden

Illness can cause considerable suffering and burden in patients and their informal caregivers. Nursing care needs to relief illness related pain and suffering in all stages of ill-health trajectories. Diagnostic procedures and treatment approaches are continuously improved and new approaches are developed to optimize health outcomes and quality of life for individuals (31). Research shows that despite benefits of a medical treatment on survival or disease progression, patients might not be ready to start, do not completely adhere or terminate these treatments (ref). Various reasons for such behaviors have been described, such as treatment-complexity, symptom-burden, treatment fatigue and the change of care provider (32). Additionally, diagnostic or nursing care procedures itself might burden the patients, for example by the experiences of pain or anxiety. Research shows that thought through nursing interventions such as injection anxiety-reducing programs or self-management support during cancer treatment, or easily applicable glucose treatment for preterm born children before painful interventions can reduce patient burden (33–35).

Therefore, based on patient or family reported experiences and outcomes, nursing interventions are needed and evaluated that aim to reduce the burden resulting from ill-health or from medical and care procedures. Support is needed for the patients and informal caregivers to enable them in coping or managing the consequences of ill-health, treatment and care in inpatient, outpatient or home settings or when transitioning between settings.

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Self-management or coping support provided or led by nurses for patients and informal caregivers in long-term conditions to reduce disease and treatment burden
- Reducing care related burden (e.g. in mental health and psychogeriatric care) and development of effective supportive strategies
- Palliative care approaches and coverage across regions and health care settings
- Educating and enabling nurses, nursing teams and other health care professionals to deal with complex care situations (e.g. dementia care, multi-morbidity)

#### B4: Promotion of health and prevention of disease

The evolution of chronic diseases and their negative impact can be limited by a reduction of modifiable risk factors (e.g. nutrition, physical activity, smoking and alcohol) (36). Nursing care is not only concerned with reducing risk factors and improving the health of individuals but also the health of communities and populations as a whole by applying a public health perspective. Internationally, cost-benefit research findings have suggested that public health nursing interventions are efficient and effective and could be widely successful in addressing health problems such as obesity and mental health (37). In the Swiss context, public health nursing has a varying tradition across the country, e.g. with activities in school nursing as one example of a public health role. Research is needed to cohesively develop, adapt, implement and evaluate public health nursing interventions in respect to: 1) access of communities/populations; 2) improvement of the persons experienced with interventions and 3) a reduction of per capita costs of healthcare (38).

Examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Access to evidence-based interventions to improve health and well-being on the population level
- Effective health promotion programs for marginalized and hard to reach populations
- Targeted nursing interventions improving health for communities and populations, namely improving health literacy and health behavior in all age groups and marginalized groups

## Priority C: Work and care environment

Healthy and supportive care environments are important for both health care professionals and informal caregivers, and have an impact on patient and health outcomes.

The quality of work environments and, more specifically, of the nurses work environment has received considerable attention from nurse researchers in relation to magnet hospitals in the United States (39). In the 1980ies, many hospitals reported serious nurse shortages, whereas others reported no problems recruiting and retaining nursing personnel. Factors to explain the success of so called "magnet hospitals", fourteen features (magnet forces) were identified that contribute to a healthy and attractive work environment: e.g., high-quality nurse

leadership and staffing structures, collaborative, interdisciplinary relationships, a decentralized organizational structure, a culture that promotes interdisciplinary collaboration and safety, and recognition of nurses' contributions to the quality of patient care and patient safety (40). Not only in magnet hospitals but in health care institutions in general, professional and interprofessional collaboration is recognized as key characteristic of healthy and supportive work and practice environments (41). More recently, the value of informal caregivers' efforts to the overall care and work environment has been recognized regarding improved economic and patient health outcomes (42,43). Additionally, research on the quality of the nurse work environment shows how findings regarding US magnet hospitals can be transferred to the Swiss and European contexts, where no magnet hospital accreditation systems exist.

#### C1: Nursing leadership and management styles

At each organizational level, both the quality of nursing leadership and the characteristics of leadership styles is associated with patient, nurse, and informal caregiver outcomes as well as quality of care. Currently, findings from studies (44,45) on magnet hospitals' nurse work environments lack generalizability, because the studies are predominately cross-sectional and were conducted in the context of single institutions (41). Improving the quality of nursing management and linked organizational features, intervention studies are required which evaluate changes and the effectiveness on patient and nurse outcomes will. The studies should focus on the development, implementation and evaluation of interventions to build leadership qualifications, competencies and skills at every organizational/management level. The interventions should also consider the educational system and daily health care practice. Since nursing executives are also accountable for quality of care and relevant budgets, the studies should also include the development, implementation and evaluation of instruments to monitor quality of care.

- Sustainable nursing leadership skills: at all management levels including frontline, middle and top management embracing clinical, academic and administrative tasks and roles including new technologies for planning, managing, and allocating staff resources.
- Middle-level management competences in terms of leadership-oriented career pathways, knowledge and skills
- Leadership styles (transformational leadership, transactional leadership, management by exception) and healthcare management approaches (lean management, quality improvement tools) and their impact on various outcomes
- Transfer and adoption of essential elements of recognized international healthcare certification /accreditation programs (magnet/beacon designations) to the Swiss context

#### C2: Skill/grade mix and nursing resource planning

Health care providers are responsible to ensure high quality care while simultaneously managing limited or increasingly reduced financial and personnel resources. To achieve this goal, health care managers are pressurized to define skill and grade mix systems appropriate to meet the needs for person-centered care. Skill mix refers to the staffing of care teams in terms of skills and experiences acquired during careers. Grade mix refers to the composition of teams and their educational qualifications. Miscalculation or insufficient planning can lead to a skill and grade mix which is inadequate to ensure the safety of persons in need of care or nursing personnel. In addition, few standards exist, which define appropriate skills and grades for care activities required in specific health care setting. To date in Switzerland, several local or institutional research studies were conducted to evaluate the required nurse staffing and skill/grade mix levels. However, interinstitutional or national studies are missing. As a result, evidence on skill and grade mix models used in Swiss health care institutions (e.g. hospitals, long-term-, community care institutions) is limited (46).

Examples of specific examples of specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Skill and grade mix standards and criteria for health care activities performed by nursing teams with various experiences and educational backgrounds
- Methods to determine nurse staffing levels in relation to quality of care (e.g. patient experiences), patient safety (e.g. infection rates), patient and staffing characteristics and care demands (e.g. changes in acuity), and financial sustainability.
- Measures for optimal numbers of different grades in a team per unit of required patient care, e.g. undergraduate, and diploma nursing staff as well as vocational training and assistant team members
- Methods and strategies to maintain care quality despite limited resources (especially time and available skill/grade mix), to retain nursing personnel; and to train and educate a sufficient number of new nurses to match projected needs.

#### C3 System-level professional collaboration and teamwork

Professional and interprofessional collaboration and teamwork contribute to improve nurse outcomes, i.e., job satisfaction and turnover (47–49) and lower rates of missed and or unfinished nursing care (50). Over the past decade, particularly within the context of health care reforms, improvement of interprofessional collaboration and teamwork have become a key strategy for single institutions and across health care systems to optimize care delivery, to meet patient care needs and to ensure the quality and safety of care (48,51,52). Current evidence on this topic indicates that practice-based interventions designed to improve interprofessional collaboration, including patient and nurse outcomes, can have a positive effect on collaboration and teamwork (49). Major challenges for researchers in this field are the lack of precise assessment and evaluation tools in interprofessional teamwork, collaboration and learning (53). Additionally, system-level data evaluation and intervention are needed.

- Approaches on strategies and interventions to improve professional and interprofessional collaboration and team work
- Contextual complexity of interprofessional collaboration and teamwork and their underlying mechanisms
- Transferability of intervention results across institutions as well as cultural and linguistic regions
- Research tools to assess and evaluate interprofessional teamwork, collaboration, and learning

#### C4: Reconciliation of employment and family/informal care

Reconciling employment and family caregiving – known in Switzerland as "work & care" – has become an issue for family caregivers themselves, but also for health care providers (54). Family/informal caregivers with concurrent employment obligations have limited time to interact with health care staff. Therefore, they need flexible schedules in the care trajectory and a reconciliation friendly service culture (e.g., for visiting hours) which facilitates communication between staff and working caregivers (55). Compared to professionals in other sectors of the labor market, health professionals are more likely to support ill or frail own family members. These so called double-duty caregivers use their know-how both for their professional duties, and privately for their family members (56). Research results from Switzerland showed double-duty caregivers to be particularly sensitive to patient safety issues (57). Reconciliation of work and family caregiving often includes some degree of distance caregiving (supporting family members from a geographical distance). Health care teams are required to develop virtual communication skills to match with family caregivers' employment duties (58). The Swiss federal government has responded to this issue by integrating work & care, first in the Federal Council's action plan on the situation of family caregivers in Switzerland (59), later in a federally funded research and development program to support family caregivers (2017-2020). In 2019, a federal legal framework was initiated to support reconciliation endeavors.

Specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Sustainable work arrangements for employed family caregivers through proactive leadership, and friendly workplace strategies
- Awareness in the health care system for double-duty caregiving and implication for communication and collaboration with distance caregivers
- Care coordination and patient safety to establish smooth care pathways, which enable working caregivers to fulfil their workforce responsibilities without being interrupted by unnecessary care duties
- Mindset of "burdened employed family caregivers" towards a more contemporary understanding of competent and resilient working caregivers

## Priority D: Quality of care and patient safety

Quality of care, including patient safety, is a key dimension to describe, assess and improve healthcare performance from the individual clinician level to the system level.

For nursing care quality, "nursing sensitive outcomes" (NSOs), i.e. outcomes depending on nursing care processes and structures, needs ongoing development(60,62). Nurses contribute to the prevention of adverse events and improved health outcomes(61). NSOs are often used by health researchers as indicators to gauge overall quality of care (63). A defining feature of NSOs is that the processes (e.g., interventions) or structures (e.g., staffing) provided or influenced by nurses are associated with care-sensitive outcomes. The development, assessment and improvement of nursing sensitive outcome measures provide bridges between system-level decision-making and organization-level improvement (64), their targets are populations rather than individuals.

Patient safety-oriented practice is vital in all care settings and are defined as: *"The avoidance, prevention and amelioration of adverse outcomes or injuries stemming from the process of healthcare"* (65). International and national studies show that adverse events during hospitalization or in homecare settings affect approximately 5-15% of patients, with a substantial proportion of these events deemed preventable (66–69). Across all settings, patient harm due to medical care leads to serious negative outcomes not only for patients and their families, but also for involved health professionals as "second victims", institutions and health care systems. Improving and sustaining safe, high-quality health care will require a strong ongoing commitment to monitoring health care safety practices and failures (70). These depend, in turn, on reliable measurement and methodological approaches. Disseminating and maintaining improvements will require intervention bundles that take human and system factors into account regarding such issues as nosocomial infections, medical and other care errors.

Furthermore, patient safety-oriented principles that can be applied to health care facility architecture have wide-ranging implications for research, e.g., when designing health-promoting environments for patients or promoting intuitive, safety-promoting behavior among health care professionals (72).

#### D1: Nursing quality- measures and improvement

In all settings of healthcare, meaningful quality measures of processes, structures and outcomes are required. Development of such measures includes the involvement of key stakeholders such as patients, families, clinicians, management, researchers and health policy makers. Also, robust research methodology is needed to assess the reliability and validity of the measures. The use of standardized nursing language (SNL) can provide interoperable data across nursing care settings, health care providers, and patients and families (73). Furthermore, research about the use of diverse quality measures for profiling as well as on the implementation of quality improvement is needed.

Specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Quality measures on processes, structures and outcomes in all settings
- Barriers and facilitators of quality measures at various healthcare organization levels
- Interventions to facilitate organizational learning based on quality measures of structures, processes and outcomes
- Quality measures on standardized and un-standardized routine data in electronic health records in all settings

#### D2: Communication and safety culture

Safety climate and culture relies on core factors including staff members' individual and collective performance, attitudes, and communication. For example, lack of communication and coordination, but also blame oriented processes among health care professionals are key research priorities for patient safety improvements according to the WHO (71). Among all health care professionals, nursing teams have a strong direct influence on their institutional safety cultures. The factors influencing communication and safety culture need to be better understood in order to design system and nursing relevant interventions.

Specific sub-themes to be addressed are

- Evaluation of safe care-oriented teamwork across hierarchical boundaries and improvement of team safety cultures, including positive deviants among care professionals, to model safe patient care practices
- Reliable interventions to overcome poor safety cultures and blame-oriented processes and support for second victims in health care facilities
- Human factors embedded in design and care operations
- Speak-up and interprofessional communication in situations critical to patient safety and medical error disclosure to patients and families

#### D3: Safe systems - measurement, methodology and monitoring

Improving patient safety requires complex system-level interventions for which human, technical and system factors need to be considered. In all cases, theoretically grounded methodological development is essential: Reliably evaluating the impacts of care activities and standards on health care quality will require valid measures and consistent monitoring.

Specific sub- themes to be addressed are:

- Theories, models, and context behind interventions to implement patient safety practices
- Robust indicators for patient safety and quality of care sensitive to nursing care based on voluntary reporting and adverse event detection methods in the electronic health record (e.g., nosocomial infections, medication errors) and interoperability of electronic health records among professional groups (e.g., regarding medication processes)

- Identifying and ameliorating latent organizational failures (e.g., availability of proper functioning equipment, organization of work processes)
- Effects of patient safety practices on outcomes, including possible unexpected effects and costs

#### D4: Safe clinical practices, procedures and technologies

Safe care depends on the application of reliable, evidence-based interventions and best practices. It also considers design principles affecting patient safety across the full range of prevention and treatment strategies, programs and interventions. Their implementation needs to be studied in real-life contexts, including nursing care.

Specific sub-themes to be addressed are:

- Health information technology/information systems and patient/informal caregiver involvement effects on patient safety
- Patient safety-oriented design principles such as noise reduction, standardization, minimizing fatigue, immediate accessibility of information, etc.
- Patient safety in neglected areas such as ambulatory care, long-term care, and psychiatric settings including costs and benefits of safe care activities
- Medication safety within electronic health record interfaces

# PART 2: TRANSVERSAL THEMES

Transversal themes are relevant for nurse scientists across priorities and sub-themes when planning, conducting, evaluating and disseminating research. They range from issues on organizing research projects, to methodological approaches, and to research in the nursing education context. Part 2 concludes by describing the commonalities between nursing research and health care policy.

# E) Organization of research

Given Swiss universities' late start of graduate and post-graduate nursing education in the year 2000, nursing research is still a young discipline. In order to bundle resources and maximize the value of nurse researchers' output, individual studies should be oriented toward **systematic research programs**. Such programs address knowledge gaps in relation to their programmatic aims, and typically consist of a series of planned and related projects, each of which stand alone and contribute stepwise to achieving the program overall aims (74). Not only are nursing research programs valuable for individual research careers, they contribute tremendously to the discipline of nursing and improvements in patient care (75). The research priorities described in this agenda highlight knowledge gaps that could be bridged by well-coordinated multi-study programs led by nurse researchers. To do so, such programs would have to be oriented toward the systematic development of evidence and the advancement of diverse methodological approaches.

Given the complexity of current and projected socioeconomic and demographic shifts and health-care issues, the programs will certainly engender **interprofessional collaborative research** at national and international level. No longer can single-discipline, single-study approaches reasonably be used against the most pressing health care problems. These demand both systematic research programs (76) with strong, collaborative leadership. To answer the research questions in these programs, require primary investigators to propose, develop and maintain multidisciplinary collaborations. In turn, these nurse researchers must actively contribute their expertise to projects led by other disciplines.

As a discipline, nursing has traditionally been oriented toward serving the health care needs of individuals, groups or entire populations (77). However, **public and patient involvement** has been embraced only in specific areas such as psychiatric care, and need to be implemented in the entire health care system, to align care-oriented research with individual and collective needs. The UK National Health Service defines (non-professional) involvement in research as the active role of patients, family caregivers, and the public in general in all phases of the research process (78). Accordingly, nurse researchers are continuously developing methodologies that maximize these stakeholders' collaborative and reciprocal involvement in their projects. Throughout the research cycle, **ethical principles** have to be applied and patient involvement needs to be systematically planned and facilitated.

## F) Research methodologies, methods and technologies

Robust and knowledge driven research needs an informed decision about designs, methods and the integration of technology with regard to answering the research question(s). Nursing research has traditionally combined qualitative, quantitative and mixed method methodologies and designs. Additionally, nursing research and its practice-driven mindset, also requires a sound understanding of implementing research results into practice.

With respect to the research priorities, three methodological approaches are most important: 1) to research rapid implementation of complex interventions/models of care into practice settings; 2) to support methodologies that use large databases to ultimately influence care and care systems; and those that allow sustainable user-and patient-centered implementation of innovative technologies into care and care delivery systems. Currently, researchers across a variety of disciplines are rapidly advancing all these approaches. The following paragraphs highlight fields which are particularly relevant to nursing research.

**Implementation science**: While nursing research in Switzerland has grown rapidly over the past two decades, growth has outpaced the development of corresponding dissemination and implementation research. The U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH) define implementation science as "the study of methods to promote integration of research findings and evidence into healthcare policy and practice" (79). This calls for nurse scientists to accelerate the translation and implementation of their findings into practice – clinical, educational, managerial or policy. This will call for innovative dissemination and implementation techniques (80). This includes consensus finding on the definition and description of processes and factors, that interfere with implementation in a regulated clinical and educational sector. Hence, real-life settings have their own principles and strategies of embracing or rejecting research insight and evidence. Therefore, nursing researchers have to tie strong alliances with practice and policy in order to prepare implementation of their research results.

**Digital Health**: Increasingly, nurse researchers have to address the digital development in Health 4.0 – the fourth and latest developmental step related to information and communication technology in health care and related research. Recently, a report defined Digital Health as an umbrella term and summarized and organized several commonly used terminologies in four domains (81): (1) Trend Health (lifestyle-oriented trends, for example, the growing use of fitness monitoring applications); (2) eHealth (clinical-oriented uses of new information technology, for example, electronic health records, telemedicine); (3) Data Health (data-focused applications that can be health-related, for example, Big Data, the Internet of Things, and Artificial Intelligence) and (4) Tech Health (hardware-oriented, for example, the use of medical high-tech products and robots for care for patients). Regarding the SRAN research priorities, nurse researchers are encouraged to contribute to all four of these domains by participating actively and advancing nursing-related research questions. For example, due to the increasing trend to monitor health-related data beyond inpatient care into patient's homes, more research is needed in respect to the appropriate content, function

and design of applications or devices to strength the ties between patient and health care professional. Here, communication and coordination tools and processes support individual patient's needs related to self-management and life-style changes. In relation to the national strategies, like the Swiss strategy eHealth 2.0 (82–85), more research is needed on the efficient input, storage, and exchange of nursing-related data incorporated in electronic patient health records and personal health records. Concerning the growing amount of large data sets, more insights of the use of nursing-related data in analytical tools (algorithms) and its impact on personalize healthcare for patients and their formal and informal caregiver is needed. Additionally, nurse researchers are currently challenged to participate actively in the development, evaluation and long-term implementation of useful types of robotics (e.g. service, care-related or social assistive robots). Issues arise in this respect to the meaning of human interaction for patients, patient-centered care, professionals or in an ethical and socio-technical perspective (86,87).

#### G) Research in health care policy and policies of higher nursing education

Nursing research can both inform and influence and be informed and influenced by health policy. In a federal country such as Switzerland, cantonal and communal governments are primarily responsible for policy making on health care delivery and, thus, population health. Cantonal health care policies can adopt federal recommendations on national strategies (e.g. palliative care, non-communicable diseases NCD, eHealth). Also, cantonal health departments license and supervise health care providers, including self-employed nurses.

The federal government together with cantonal health policy makers is mainly responsible for legislating and regulating social insurances. These are relevant for paying long-term care facilities as well as covering acute care, thus influencing access to care and payment of care delivery. Also, the federal government together with cantonal bodies is responsible for the implementation of specific health care structures, such as the electronic patient record which will be enacted in spring 2020. In this context, care coordination and its financing structures remain high priorities at the national, cantonal, and local levels (92–97).

Undergraduate programs in nursing science will be accredited by the federal government, based on the Health Profession Act, which will most probably be enforced in 2020. Graduate programs in nursing science, however, are not federally regulated in this act. Therefore, universities of applied sciences and universities together with care providers are fully responsible for the scope of practice of graduate nurses. Evaluations are required to analyze the impact of new graduate programs, particularly with a focus on clinical nursing science, in order to assess quality and safety of care and other outcomes. Therefore, nursing research in collaboration with other disciplines is highly relevant in this context of health care policy and academic nursing education in Switzerland.

# H) Public health perspectives, diverse and vulnerable populations in research

Nursing research serves both individual and public health. In particular, public health perspectives across populations and fields need to be further integrated in research. Likewise, nurse researchers across all fields of research have to account for health care disparities influenced by diversity and vulnerability

Health care disparities, which affect numerous patient groups, are strongly influenced by diversity and vulnerability. Health outcomes of those populations include inadequate diagnosis and disease management, increased morbidity and mortality, avoidable suffering and heavy health care system costs (88). For nurse researchers working with increasingly diverse populations, avoiding discrimination and guaranteeing equal access to health care services means to consider the needs of specific minorities and vulnerable patient groups (89).

Diversity includes not only and typically age, gender and ethnicity (90), but broader characteristics such as socio-economic level, geographic origin, education, physical functionality, personality traits, lifestyle, sexual preference, and others. Some populations are particularly vulnerable and in need for special protection. These vulnerable patient groups can be heterogeneous and may include children, adolescents as well as particular groups of (older) adults (91). Likewise, pregnant woman with very young or higher childbearing age, adults with limited capacity for autonomy (e.g., care-dependent, cognitively or physically impaired, in particular people with dementia, end-of life situations), or individuals in precarious living situations (e.g., recent migrants, other discriminated, marginalized groups, individuals in correctional facilities or receiving emergency services) are particularly vulnerable. In the past, vulnerable groups were excluded in some research approaches such as clinical trials to eliminate any risk their participation might entail for them (namely pregnant women or women in childbearing age).

However, systematic exclusion of specific groups from nursing research may ultimately increase their vulnerability (91). Where knowledge and understanding gaps relate to care and treatment, for example, unanticipated effects of medications or other care interventions can lead to disadvantages, health disparities and other negative outcomes. For these reasons, among others, future research plans should account for diversity and vulnerable groups and individuals. This is especially true where inclusion would not increase their vulnerability, but might actually help them meet their needs, especially where these involve impediments to their care and support.

- 1. Harnett PJ. Improvement attributes in healthcare: implications for integrated care. International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance. 2018 Apr 16;31(3):214–27.
- Baxter S, Johnson M, Chambers D, Sutton A, Goyder E, Booth A. The effects of integrated care: a systematic review of UK and international evidence. BMC Health Services Research [Internet].
   2018 Dec [cited 2018 Nov 13];18(1). Available from: https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-018-3161-3
- 3. Starling A. Implementing new models of care: Lessons from the new care models programme in England. International Journal of Care Coordination. 2018 Jun;21(1–2):50–4.
- 4. Jaccard Ruedin H, Weaver F, Roth M, Widmer M. Gesundheitspersonal in der Schweiz: Aktueller Stand und mögliche Entwicklung bis 2020. In: RN4Cast Stakeholder Konferenz. Bern: GDK Schweizerische Konferenz der Gesundheitsdirektorinnen und -direktoren; 2009. p. 30–515.
- Daly WM, Carnwell R. Nursing roles and levels of practice: A framework for differentiating between elementary, specialist and advancing nursing practice. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2003;12:158–67.
- 6. McEwan B. Defining the scope of practice of enrolled nurses in medication administration in Australia: a review of the legislation. Collegian. 2008;15(3):93–101.
- RCN Royal College of Nursing. The future nurse [Internet]. London: RCN; 2003 Oct [cited 2009 Nov 24] p. 1–18. (Interim report). Available from: http://www.rcn.org.uk/downloads/aboutus/policy\_and\_consultations/policy\_unit/imported/fut ure-nurse-interim-report.pdf
- 8. Royal College of Nursing. Advanced nurse practitioners: An RCN guide to advanced nursing practice, advanced nurse practitioners and programme accreditation. 2012. (RCN Competences).
- 9. World Health Organizaton. Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education & Collaborative Practice [Internet]. Geneva: Health Professions Networks Nursing & Midwifery Human Resources for Health; 2010. Available from: ttp://www.who.int/hrh/nursing\_midwifery/en/
- Xyrichis A, Lowton K. What fosters or prevents interprofessional teamworking in primary and community care? A literature review. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2008 Jan;45(1):140–53.
- 11. Proudfoot J, Jayasinghe UW, Holton C, Grimm J, Bubner T, Amoroso C, et al. Team climate for innovation: what difference does it make in general practice? International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2007 Apr 18;19(3):164–9.
- Morgan S, Pullon S, McKinlay E. Observation of interprofessional collaborative practice in primary care teams: An integrative literature review. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2015 Jul;52(7):1217–30.
- 13. Xyrichis A, Ream E. Teamwork: a concept analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2008 Jan;61(2):232–41.

- 14. Newhouse RP, Stanik-Hutt J, White KM, Johantgen M, Bass EB, Zangaro G, et al. Advanced practice nurse outcomes 1990-2008: a systematic review. Nurs Econ. 2011 Oct;29(5):230–50; quiz 251.
- 15. Grady PA, Gough LL. Self-Management: A Comprehensive Approach to Management of Chronic Conditions. American Journal of Public Health. 2014 Aug;104(8):e25–31.
- 16. Grady PA, Daley K. The 2013 National Nursing Research Roundtable: Advancing the science of chronic illness self-management. Nursing Outlook. 2014 May;62(3):201–3.
- 17. BAG B für G. Plattform Selbstmanagement-Förderung bei chronischen Krankheiten und Sucht (SELF) [Internet]. Strategie & Politik. 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. Available from: https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/de/home/strategie-und-politik/nationalegesundheitsstrategien/strategie-nicht-uebertragbare-krankheiten/praevention-in-dergesundheitsversorgung/selbstmanagement-foerderung-chronische-krankheiten-undsucht/plattform-selbstmanagement-foerderung.html
- 18. International Council of Nurses. Nursing Definitions [Internet]. ICN. 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. Available from: https://www.icn.ch/nursing-policy/nursing-definitions
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Quality of Health Care in America. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century [Internet]. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2001 [cited 2018 Oct 12]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK222274/
- 20. 2. U. S. Department of Health Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Guidance for industry: patient-reported outcome measures: use in medical product development to support labeling claims: draft guidance [Internet]. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes; 2006 [cited 2018 Oct 12]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm193282.pdf
- 21. Weldring T, Smith SMS. Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). Health Serv Insights. 2013 Aug 4;6:61–8.
- 22. Deshpande PR, Rajan S, Sudeepthi BL, Abdul Nazir CP. Patient-reported outcomes: A new era in clinical research. Perspect Clin Res. 2011 Oct;2(4):137–44.
- 23. Atkinson TM, Ryan SJ, Bennett AV, Stover AM, Saracino RM, Rogak LJ, et al. The association between clinician-based common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTCAE) and patient-reported outcomes (PRO): a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(8):3669–76.
- 24. Basch E. The missing voice of patients in drug-safety reporting. N Engl J Med. 2010 Mar 11;362(10):865–9.
- 25. Basch E. Patient-Reported Outcomes Harnessing Patients' Voices to Improve Clinical Care. New England Journal of Medicine. 2017 Jan 12;376(2):105–8.
- 26. McKenna SP. Measuring patient-reported outcomes: moving beyond misplaced common sense to hard science. BMC Med. 2011 Jul 14;9:86.
- 27. Snyder CF, Jensen RE, Segal JB, Wu AW. Patient-reported outcomes (PROs): putting the patient perspective in patient-centered outcomes research. Med Care. 2013 Aug;51(8 Suppl 3):S73-79.

- 28. Doyle C, Lennox L, Bell D. A systematic review of evidence on the links between patient experience and clinical safety and effectiveness. BMJ Open. 2013 Jan 1;3(1):e001570.
- 29. Health Innovation Network. What is person-centred care and why is it important? [Internet]. HIN South London; 2016 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. Available from: https://healthinnovationnetwork.com/system/ckeditor\_assets/attachments/41/what\_is\_personcentred\_care\_and\_why\_is\_it\_important.pdf
- 30. iaBPG. Person- and Family-Centred Care. Toronto: International Affairs & Best Practice Guidelines; 2015. (Clinical Best Practice Guidelines). Report No.: RNAO.
- 31. Demain S, Gonçalves A-C, Areia C, Oliveira R, Marcos AJ, Marques A, et al. Living With, Managing and Minimising Treatment Burden in Long Term Conditions: A Systematic Review of Qualitative Research. Macleod U, editor. PLoS ONE. 2015 May 29;10(5):e0125457.
- 32. Sav A, King MA, Whitty JA, Kendall E, McMillan SS, Kelly F, et al. Burden of treatment for chronic illness: a concept analysis and review of the literature. Health Expect. 2015 Jun;18(3):312–24.
- Gerull R, Cignacco E, Stoffel L, Sellam G, Nelle M. Physiological parameters after nonpharmacological analgesia in preterm infants: a randomized trial. Acta Paediatr. 2013 Aug;102(8):e368–73.
- 34. Yin T, Yang L, Lee T-Y, Li C-C, Hua Y-M, Liaw J-J. Development of atraumatic heel-stick procedures by combined treatment with non-nutritive sucking, oral sucrose, and facilitated tucking: A randomised, controlled trial. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2015 Aug;52(8):1288–99.
- 35. Howell D, Harth T, Brown J, Bennett C, Boyko S. Self-management education interventions for patients with cancer: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer. 2017 Apr;25(4):1323–55.
- 36. World Health Organization. Part Two. The urgent need for action. [Internet]. WHO. 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. Available from: http://www.who.int/chp/chronic\_disease\_report/part2\_ch1/en/
- 37. Association of Community Health Nursing Educators (ACHNE) Research Committee. Research Priorities for Public Health Nursing. Public Health Nursing. 2010 Jan;27(1):94–100.
- Schweizerische Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften. Sustainable health system [Internet]. SAMW. 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. Available from: https://www.samw.ch/en/Projects/Sustainable-health-care-system.html
- 39. McClure ML. Magnet Hospitals Revisited: Attraction and Retention of Professional Nurses. Washington DC: American Nurses Publishing; 2002.
- 40. Kramer M, Schmalenberg C, Maguire P. Nine Structures and Leadership Practices Essential for a Magnetic (Healthy) Work Environment: Nursing Administration Quarterly. 2010 Jan;34(1):4–17.
- 41. McClure ML, Poulin MA, Sovie MD, Wandelt MA. Magnet Hospitals: Attraction and Retention of Professional Nurses (The Original Study). In: A. N. Association, editor. Magnet Hospitals Revisited: Attraction and Retention of Professional Nurses. Washington DC: American Nurses Publishing; 2002. p. 1–22.
- 42. Dunbar SB, Khavjou OA, Bakas T, Hunt G, Kirch RA, Leib AR, et al. Projected Costs of Informal Caregiving for Cardiovascular Disease: 2015 to 2035: A Policy Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation [Internet]. 2018 May 8 [cited 2018 Nov 13];137(19). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIR.00000000000570

- 43. Wilkinson A, Meikle N, Law P, Yong HJ, Butler P, Kim J, et al. How older adults and their informal carers prevent falls: An integrative review of the literature. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2018 Jun;82:13–9.
- 44. Cummings GG, MacGregor T, Davey M, Lee H, Wong CA, Lo E, et al. Leadership styles and outcome patterns for the nursing workforce and work environment: A systematic review. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2010 Mar;47(3):363–85.
- 45. Wong CA, Cummings GG, Ducharme L. The relationship between nursing leadership and patient outcomes: a systematic review update. Journal of Nursing Management. 2013 Jul;21(5):709–24.
- 46. Aiken LH, Sloane DM, Bruyneel L, Van den Heede K, Griffiths P, Busse R, et al. Nurse staffing and education and hospital mortality in nine European countries: a retrospective observational study. The Lancet. 2014 May;383(9931):1824–30.
- 47. Hollingsworth JM, Funk RJ, Garrison SA, Owen-Smith J, Kaufman SA, Pagani FD, et al. Association Between Physician Teamwork and Health System Outcomes After Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2016;9(6):641–8.
- 48. Ponte PR, Gross AH, Milliman-Richard YJ, Lacey K. Interdisciplinary teamwork and collaboration: an essential element of a positive practice environment. Annu Rev Nurs Res. 2010;28:159–89.
- Reeves S, Pelone F, Harrison R, Goldman J, Zwarenstein M. Interprofessional collaboration to improve professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. 2017 Jun 22 [cited 2018 Oct 12]; Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD000072.pub3
- 50. Kalisch BJ, Lee KH. The impact of teamwork on missed nursing care. Nurs Outlook. 2010 Oct;58(5):233–41.
- 51. Schmalenberg C, Kramer M, King CR, Krugman M, Lund C, Poduska D, et al. Excellence through evidence: securing collegial/collaborative nurse-physician relationships, part 2. J Nurs Adm. 2005 Nov;35(11):507–14.
- 52. Zwarenstein M, Goldman J, Reeves S. Interprofessional collaboration: effects of practice-based interventions on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009 Jul 8;(3):CD000072.
- 53. Cuff PA. Interprofessional Education for Collaboration: Learning How to Improve Health from Interprofessional Models Across the Continuum of Education to Practice: Workshop Summary [Internet]. Washington DC: Institute of Medicine of the National Academies; 2013 [cited 2018 Oct 12]. Available from: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/13486/interprofessional-education-forcollaboration-learning-how-to-improve-health-from
- 54. Stewart LM. Family Care Responsibilities and Employment: Exploring the Impact of Type of Family Care on Work–Family and Family–Work Conflict. Journal of Family Issues. 2013 Jan;34(1):113–38.
- 55. Bischofberger I, Holten K van. Employed family caregivers in health care: from a logic of care to a logic of reconciliation / Berufstätige Angehörige im Gesundheitswesen: Von der Versorgungslogik zur Vereinbarkeitslogik. International Journal of Health Professions. 2015 Jun 1;2(1):38–48.

- Dichter M, Holle B, Schmidt SG, Hasselhorn H, Schnepp W, Simon M. Pflege als doppelte Aufgabe: Eine Sekundärdatenanalyse zu Pflegenden mit zusätzlichen privaten Pflegeaufgaben. Pflege & Gesellschaft. 2012 Jan 1;17:330–46.
- 57. Jähnke A, Liebert Y, Käppeli A, van Holten K, Bischofberger I. "Wachsam? Aber sicher!": Gesundheitsfachpersonen als fachkundige Angehörige und ihre Rolle in der Patientensicherheit. Pflege. 2017 Nov;30(6):375–86.
- 58. Bevan JL, Sparks L. Communication in the context of long-distance family caregiving: An integrated review and practical applications. Patient Education and Counseling. 2011 Oct;85(1):26–30.
- 59. State Secretary. Supporting family caregivers Situation analysis and needs assessment. Bern: Swiss Federation; 2014.
- 60. Doran D. Nursing Sensitive Outcomes: State Of The Science. 1 edition. Sudbury, Mass: Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2003. 300 p.
- 61. Jones TL. Outcome Measurement in Nursing: Imperatives, Ideals, History, and Challenges. Online J Issues Nurs. 2016 May 31;21(2):1.
- 62. Nelson ST, Flynn L. Relationship between missed care and urinary tract infections in nursing homes. Geriatr Nurs. 2015 Apr;36(2):126–30.
- 63. Moorhead S, Johnson M, Maas ML, Swanson E. Nursing outcomes classification (NOC) (6 ed.). St. Louis: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2018. 778 p.
- 64. Berwick DM, James B, Coye MJ. Connections between quality measurement and improvement. Med Care. 2003 Jan;41(1 Suppl):I30-38.
- 65. Vincent C. Integrating safety and quality. In: Patient Safety. New York: Willey Blackwell, BMJ Books; 2010. p. 31.
- 66. de Vries EN, Ramrattan MA, Smorenburg SM, Gouma DJ, Boermeester MA. The incidence and nature of in-hospital adverse events: a systematic review. Qual Saf Health Care. 2008 Jun;17(3):216–23.
- 67. Halfon P, Staines A, Burnand B. Adverse events related to hospital care: a retrospective medical records review in a Swiss hospital. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2017 Aug;29(4):527–33.
- 68. Schwendimann R, Blatter C, Dhaini S, Simon M, Ausserhofer D. The occurrence, types, consequences and preventability of in-hospital adverse events a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018 Dec;18(1):521.
- 69. Masotti P, McColl MA, Green M. Adverse events experienced by homecare patients: a scoping review of the literature. Int J Qual Health Care. 2010 Apr;22(2):115–25.
- 70. Shekelle PG, Pronovost PJ, Wachter RM, Taylor SL, Dy SM, Foy R, et al. Advancing the science of patient safety. Ann Intern Med. 2011 May 17;154(10):693–6.
- 71. Bates DW, Larizgoitia I, Prasopa-Plaizier N, Jha AK. Global priorities for patient safety research. BMJ. 2009 May 14;338:b1775.
- 72. Kobler I, Schwappach D. More patient safety by design: Systemic solutions for hospitals. Bern: Patient Safety Switzerland; 2017. Report No.: 2.

- 73. Keenan GM, Lopez KD, Sousa VEC, Stifter J, Macieira TGR, Boyd AD, et al. A Shovel-Ready Solution to Fill the Nursing Data Gap in the Interdisciplinary Clinical Picture: A Shovel-Ready Solution to Fill the Nursing Data Gap. International Journal of Nursing Knowledge. 2018 Jan;29(1):49–58.
- 74. Morse JM. Editorial: What happened to research programs. Qualitative health research [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2018 Oct 12];20(2). Available from: https://utah.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/editorial-what-happened-to-research-programs
- 75. Beck CTB DNSc, CNM. Developing a Program of Research in Nursing. New York: Springer Publishing Company; 2015. 180 p.
- 76. Iglič H, Doreian P, Kronegger L, Ferligoj A. With whom do researchers collaborate and why? Scientometrics. 2017;112(1):153–74.
- 77. Schweizerischen Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften (SAMW). Patienten und Angehörige beteiligen. Swiss Academies Communications [Internet]. 2016;11(10). Available from: https://www.samw.ch/de/Publikationen/Empfehlungen.html
- Boote J. Patient and Public Involvement in Health and Social Care Research: A Bibliography. 2011.
- 79. Mbonu NC, Van den Borne B, De Vries NK. A model for understanding the relationship between stigma and healthcare-seeking behaviour among people living with HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa. African Journal of AIDS Research. 2009 Jun;8(2):201–12.
- 80. Battaglia C, Glasgow RE. Pragmatic dissemination and implementation research models, methods and measures and their relevance for nursing research. Nursing Outlook [Internet].
  2018 Aug [cited 2018 Nov 13]; Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0029655418300447
- Moll C, Brügger U, Strunk LE, Schmidt R, Angerer A. Digital Health : die Zukunft des Schweizer Gesundheitswesens. 2017 [cited 2018 Nov 13]; Available from: https://digitalcollection.zhaw.ch/handle/11475/1458
- 82. Bundesamt für Gesundheit (BAG). Die gesundheitspolitischen Prioritäten des Bundesrates. Gesundheit 2020 [Internet]. BAG. 2013 [cited 2018 Nov 13]. Available from: https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/de/home/strategie-und-politik/gesundheit-2020/eineumfassende-strategie-fuer-das-gesundheitswesen.html
- 83. Bundesamt für Kommunikation (BAKOM). Strategie "Digitale Schweiz" [Internet]. BAKOM. 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 13]. Available from: https://www.bakom.admin.ch/bakom/de/home/digital-undinternet/strategie-digitale-schweiz.html
- 84. Chi N-C, Demiris G. A systematic review of telehealth tools and interventions to support family caregivers. Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare. 2015 Jan;21(1):37–44.
- 85. e health suisse. Strategie eHealth Schweiz 2.0., 2018–2022: Ziele und Massnahmen von Bund und Kantonen zur Verbreitung des elektronischen Patienten-dossiers sowie zur Koordination der Digitalisierung rund um das elektronische Patientendossier. Schweizerische Konferenz der kantonalen Gesundheitsdirektorinnen und -direktoren; 2018.
- 86. Eriksson H, Salzmann-Erikson M. The digital generation and nursing robotics: A netnographic study about nursing care robots posted on social media. Nursing Inquiry. 2017 Apr;24(2):e12165.

- Seeber I, Bittner E, Briggs RO, De Vreede G-J, De Vreede T, Druckenmiller D, et al. Machines as Teammates: A Collaboration Research Agenda. In Waikoloa, HI, USA; 2018 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. p. 420–9. Available from: https://www.alexandria.unisg.ch/251713/
- MMWR Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report — United States, 2013 [Internet]. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report; 2013 [cited 2018 Nov 13]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/other/su6203.pdf
- 89. BAG B für G. National Rare Disease Policy [Internet]. National Rare Disease Policy. 2018 [cited 2019 Jun 4]. Available from: https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/en/home/strategie-und-politik/politische-auftraege-und-aktionsplaene/nationales-konzept-seltene-krankheiten.html
- 90. Thomas RR. Beyond race and gender: unleashing the power of your total work force by managing diversity. New York, NY: AMACOM; 1991. 189 p.
- 91. SAMS. Research with human subjects A manual for practitioners [Internet]. 2nd edition. Bern: SAMS; 2015. Available from: https://www.samw.ch/en/Publications/Handbooks.html
- 92. Müller-Staub M, Brenner A, Hofer B. Expert report on nurses' responsibility. Bern: Swiss Nursing Science Association (ANS); 2015.
- 93. Müller-Staub M, Paans W. A Standard for Nursing Process Clinical Decision Support Systems (NP-CDSS). Stud Health Technol Inform. 2016;225:810–1.
- 94. Paans W, Müller-Staub M, Krijnen WP. Outcome Calculations Based on Nursing Documentation in the First Generation of Electronic Health Records in the Netherlands. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2016;225:457–60.
- 95. Payr S, Werner F, Werner K. Potential of Robotics for Ambient Assisted Living. Vienna: potenziAAL; 2015.
- 96. Welton JM, Halloran EJ. Nursing diagnoses, diagnosis-related group, and hospital outcomes. J Nurs Adm. 2005 Dec;35(12):541–9.
- 97. Welton JM, Harper EM. Nursing Care Value-Based Financial Models. Nurs Econ. 2015 Feb;33(1):14–9, 25.

# Collaborators and acknowledgement:

#### Collaborators

As former president of the Swiss Association for Nursing Science (VFP/ASPI), Prof. Dr. Maria Müller-Staub initiated the revision of the SRAN. Under the lead of Nicole Zigan, MNS and Prof. Dr. Dunja Nicca following persons, listed in alphabetical order, participated in the expert groups, revision and writing process of the SRAN 2019-2019.

- Dr. Alexandra Bernhart-Just († 2018), Bethesda Hospital Basel
- Dr. Monica Bianchi, University of Applied Sciences and Arts of Southern Switzerland (SUPSI), Manno
- Prof. Dr. Iren Bischofberger, Careum School of Health, part of Kalaidos University of Applied Sciences, Zurich
- ✤ Katja Bohner, Hospital Affoltern am Albis
- Prof. Dr. Manuela Eicher, University Institute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare, Lausanne
- Prof. Dr. Katharina Fierz, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur
- Dr. Fritz Frauenfelder, Psychiatric University Hospital Zürich
- Prof. Dr. Lorenz Imhof, Nursing Science & Care GmbH, Winterthur
- Agnes Kocher, Institute of Nursing Science, University of Basel
- Prof. Dr. Andrea Koppitz, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur
- Dr. Stefan Kunz, University of Applied Sciences and Arts of Southern Switzerland (SUPSI), Manno
- Prof. Dr. Romy Mahrer Imhof, Nursing Science & Care GmbH, Winterthur
- Prof. Dr. Maria Müller Staub, Pflege PBS, Wil & Hanze University, Groningen NL
- Prof. Dr. Dunja Nicca, Institute of Nursing Science, University of Basel
- Prof. Dr. Annie Oulevey Bachmann, La Source School of Nursing Science, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Western Switzerland HES-SO
- Prof. Dr. Maria Schubert, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur
- PD Dr. René Schwendimann, University Hospital of Basel
- Prof. Dr. Michael Simon, Institute of Nursing Science, University of Basel & DPMTT,
- ✤ Inselspital Bern
- Dr. Veronika Waldboth, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur
- Dave Zanon, XUND Bildungszentrum Gesundheit Zentralschweiz, Luzern
- Nicole Zigan, Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Winterthur
- Dr. Karin Zimmermann, Institute of Nursing Science, University of Basel
- Prof. Dr. Maya Zumstein-Shaha, Bern University of Applied Sciences, Department of Health Professions

We also would like to thank Dr. Dalit Jäckel, managing director of the VFP/ASPI and Yoshija Walter, secretary of the VFP/ASPI for their highly appreciated administrative support. Further, a big thank you goes to the Academic Societies of the VFP/APSI and all persons who participated in the survey and/or the conference for their important contributions that made the SRAN development possible.

#### Sponsors

We also like to acknowledge the following sponsors, who supported the development of the SRAN 2019-2029 financially:

- ➢ Federal Office of Public Health FOPH
- Swiss Nurses Association SBK ASI
- > Bern University of Applied Sciences, Department of Health Professions
- > University of Applied Sciences FHS St. Gallen, Department of Health
- > Institute of Nursing Science, University of Basel
- University Institute of Higher Education and Research in Healthcare, Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne
- Careum School of Health, Part of Kalaidos University of Applied Sciences, Zurich
- University of Applied Sciences and Arts Western Switzerland HES-SO
- University of Applied Sciences and Arts of Southern Switzerland (SUPSI)
- > Institute of Nursing, Zurich University of Applied Sciences ZHAW